#### I. INTRODUCTION

In 2007, the Washington Supreme Court in *Davis v. Baugh*, 159 Wn.2d 413, 417, 150 P.3d 545 (2007), created a new rule of post-construction liability for negligent construction contractors:

\* \* \* a builder or construction contractor is liable for injury or damage to a third person as a result of negligent work, even after completion and acceptance of that work, when it was reasonably foreseeable that a third person would be injured due to that negligence.

Id., 159 Wn. App. at 417 (emphasis supplied).

Washington State Penitentiary (WSP) electrician, 29 year old plaintiff Marshall Donnelly, suffered catastrophic and permanently disabling brain injuries after the metal security ceiling he was walking on to do his assigned work in a newly-constructed building collapsed. He and the WSP were unaware that this heavy-duty metal security ceiling was not designed to hold the weight of a person and was a latent hazard.

Plaintiffs<sup>1</sup> allege that the general contractor responsible for constructing the building, HDR/Turner,<sup>2</sup> became aware of this hazard for the first time midway through construction, three years before Mr.

Donnelly's injuries, and failed to inform the WSP. Plaintiffs also allege

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appellants include Marshall Donnelly, the injured plaintiff; his wife (Jennifer) and minor daughter (Linley, through her Guardian ad Litem Keith Kessler) who had derivative claims. They are referred to collectively as "plaintiffs" here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> HDR/Turner was a joint venture consisting of members HDR Architecture, Inc. ("HDR") and Turner Construction Company ("Turner").

that HDR/Turner's ceiling installation subcontractor, defendant Noise Control of Washington, Inc. ("Noise Control"), negligently failed to follow the ceiling manufacturer's installation instructions, contributing to the ceiling's failure and Mr. Donnelly's injuries, and that HDR/Turner shares responsibility for Noise Control's negligence.

The central issue in this appeal is whether the trial court erred by instructing the jury that it could not consider the HDR/Turner Design-Build Agreement with the State (the "Contract") on the issue of defendants' negligence. This Contract is the only source of information describing what HDR/Turner agreed to build and what ceiling product information it agreed to provide to the WSP upon project completion.

This Contract is critically important evidence of the standard of care a jury must apply to determine negligence. Plaintiffs could not argue their theory of liability without it.

Defendants HDR and Turner offered the contract documents as evidence and no party challenged the admissibility of those documents or disputed their significance to plaintiffs' tort claims. HDR/Turner's defense focused instead, like plaintiffs' claims, on whether the Contract required HDR/Turner to provide the WSP with ceiling warranties and "lists of circumstances and conditions that would affect the validity" of the ceiling warranties. HDR/Turner learned midway through the project that

walking on metal security ceilings was unsafe and would violate all manufacturer's warranties but failed to provide this information to the WSP.

The trial judge erred at the end of trial, after all parties rested, by prohibiting the jury from considering the Contract on the issue of negligence and by prohibiting plaintiffs from arguing their liability theory to the jury. Plaintiffs address their additional claims of error below.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred in the following ways:

- 1. By giving Jury Instruction 14, prohibiting jury consideration of construction contract language as evidence of negligence, thereby expressly preventing plaintiffs from arguing their liability theory. (CP 542, p. 8905; RP 2924-25, 2945 (10-8-14pm)).
- 2. By refusing plaintiffs' proposed additional instruction language which would have mitigated the legal error in Instruction 14. (CP 535A; RP 2945 (10-8-14pm)).
- 3. By applying the Independent Contractor Rule as a matter of law, insulating general contractor HDR/Turner from liability for its subcontractor's negligence. (CP 540; RP 1679 (9-30-14am)).
- 4. By excluding plaintiffs' construction expert's testimony concerning the rights and obligations of HDR/Turner to inspect and

approve ceiling installation subcontractor Noise Control's work. (RP 1677-80 (9-30-14am)).

- 5. By giving the jury a Verdict Form with separate lines for defendant HDR and defendant Turner, thereby requiring plaintiffs prove the individual negligence of each joint venture member. (CP 541; RP 2925-26 (10-8-14pm)).
- 6. By failing to remove superseding cause language from Jury Instruction 15, the proximate cause instruction, after having previously stricken the superseding cause defense, compounded by the misconduct of HDR's counsel in using this instructional error to its advantage in closing argument by impermissibly linking superseding cause to negligence.

  (CP 542, p. 8906, 546, 547, 572, 573; RP 3088-89 (10-9-14pm)).
- 7. By rebuking plaintiffs' counsel in the middle of closing argument, in a manner criticizing his integrity by accusing him of violating an alleged agreement between counsel, when the trial court had before it sufficient information to determine that the defense allegations relied upon were false and where, months later, the trial court admitted the rebuke was in error. (RP 3010 (10-9-14am), 3058 (10-9-14pm), CP 573).
- 8. By denying plaintiffs' Motion for a New Trial. (CP 546, 547, 572, 573).

#### III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. In a construction negligence case brought by an injured third party employee of a building owner, should the jury be allowed to consider the terms of the contract between the defendant general contractor and the owner on the issue of negligence; (a) where that contract is the primary evidence of the applicable general contractor standard of care; (b) where every key general contractor manager and defendants' construction expert all admit that a reasonably prudent contractor would follow contract language requiring, as part of the project, that the contractor provide critical security ceiling warranty information to the owner in an Operations and Maintenance Manual; and (c) where the general contractor learned for the first time during construction that the metal security ceilings it chose for a prison building project were unsafe to walk on and walking on them would void all warranties, and yet failed to provide this information to the owner? (Assignment of Error 1).
- 2. Where Washington law provides for general contractor liability to those injured by negligent work after completion and acceptance of that work, should the jury be able to consider the terms of a contract between a defendant general contractor and the building owner to determine if the contractor met the applicable standard of care to

determine whether the contractor breached tort duties owed to a third person? (Assignments of Error 1 and 2).

- 3. Should the trial court be reversed where, after all parties rested, it expressly precluded the plaintiffs from arguing their theory of construction contractor tort liability by prohibiting the jury from considering contract language on the issue of negligence, after a five-week trial where no party challenged the relevance of contract language to plaintiffs' negligence claims, where the defense focused similarly on that contract language, and where no legal authority supported the trial court's decision to remove the contract language from the jury's consideration of negligence? (Assignment of Error 1 and 2).
- 4. Does a general contractor have a nondelegable duty to provide a reasonably safe building where the general contractor (a) is solely responsible for the final building project, (b) had the exclusive right and obligation to inspect its subcontractor's work, and (c) had the exclusive right to accept or reject that subcontractor's work?

  (Assignments of Error 3 and 4).
- 5. Should a trial judge's ruling that the Independent

  Contractor Rule applied as a matter of law be reversed where it was
  inconsistent with another judge's earlier summary judgment rulings,
  ignored issues of fact with respect to exceptions to the Rule, and where it

undermined the deterrent principles behind tort law and the Washington Supreme Court's clear decision not to insulate general contractors from tort liability for negligent work? (Assignments of Error 3 and 4).

- 6. Where members of a joint venture are vicariously liable for each other's acts, and where plaintiffs obtained pretrial summary judgment orders requiring proof of negligence as to defendants' joint venture entity but not requiring separate proof of each joint venturer's individual negligence, and where plaintiffs relied on that ruling throughout trial in presenting their case, was it error for a subsequently-assigned trial judge to reverse the earlier ruling and instead to provide the jury with a Verdict Form listing each individual joint member separately and retroactively requiring separate proof of negligence for each? (Assignment of Error 5).
- 7. Where the trial court admittedly erred by inadvertently leaving superseding cause language in the proximate cause jury instruction, does the flagrant and prejudicial misconduct of defense counsel in choosing not to inform the trial court or other parties of this oversight but, instead, using the instructional mistake to make superseding cause a central theme in his closing argument, including improperly linking superseding cause to negligence, require a new trial where the jury found defendants were not negligent? (Assignment of Error 6).

8. Where the law requires reversal when a trial judge criticizes an attorney's integrity in front of the jury, is reversal required here where, after the jury returned its verdict, the trial judge admits he erred by instructing the jury during the plaintiffs' closing argument that plaintiffs' counsel had violated an agreement between counsel and where, at the time of the rebuke, the trial judge had all of the necessary information to determine that the defense accusation of misconduct upon which the trial court relied was demonstrably false? (Assignment of Error 7).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. The North Close Project and Marshall Donnelly's accident.

Defendants HDR Architecture, Inc. ("HDR") and Turner

Construction Company ("Turner") formed a joint venture ("HDR/Turner")

to bid on and secure a \$100 million "design-build" contract for the North

Close Project at the maximum security penitentiary in Walla Walla,

Washington. The North Close Project involved design and construction of
new prison buildings, including Building C, where Marshall Donnelly's

injuries occurred. On March 2, 2005, HDR/Turner, as the project's
general contractor, signed a Design-Build Agreement (the "Contract")

with the State of Washington. (Exh. 3; Exh. 3, p. 101; Exh. 4; Exh. 204).

Areas holding supervised prisoners required installation of "Security Level B" ceilings, including the Room C-165 hallway where Mr. Donnelly's injury occurred. Security Level B ceiling materials must be capable of withstanding a 30-minute beating with a sledgehammer without failing. (RP 535 (9-18-14am)). <sup>3</sup>

HDR Vice President and lead project architect Larry Hartman selected "Lockdown" metal security ceilings manufactured by Environmental Interiors for the project's Security Level B ceilings. (RP 2469 (10-6-14pm)). Lockdown is a unique, suspended, heavy-duty, steel grid and panel system designed for prisons and intended to prevent prisoners from hiding contraband above the ceiling or breaking into the space above (the "plenum" space) to escape. (RP 618 (9-22-14am)). The plenum space contains HVAC, plumbing, electrical and other fixtures requiring regular service. The only way for a worker to access the plenum space to maintain the building systems is through designated ceiling access panels. These access panels have red labels bearing the phrase "MEP Access," an undisputed reference to "mechanical, electrical and plumbing." (RP 191-93(9-17-14); Exh. 74-015). It is undisputed that plenum spaces contain systems and fixtures that cannot be reached from the access panels because they are too far away from the access point. (RP 195-197, 188-193 (9-17-14); RP 358-359, 380-382 (9-17-14);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Rooms for unsupervised prisoners required construction that met Security Level A with materials that can withstand a 60-minute sledgehammer beating. (RP 535 (18-14am)). <sup>4</sup> The Security Level A ceiling selected by Mr. Hartman was an Environmental Interiors metal security ceiling product called "Celline." (RP 2469 (10-6-14pm)).

RP 446-449 (9-18-14); RP 1064 (9-24-14am); RP 1244, 1248 (9-24-14pm); RP 2634-2636 (10-7-14pm).

HDR/Turner subcontracted with Noise Control for the installation of all metal security ceilings. That contract required Noise Control to follow the Lockdown manufacturer's installation instructions. (Exh. 59).<sup>5</sup>

Prior to the North Close Project, WSP maintenance employees, including electricians, regularly walked on prison security ceilings to perform their work. (RP 455 (9-18-14), RP 863 (9-23-14am)).<sup>6</sup> After North Close Project completion in late 2007 and before Mr. Donnelly's injury, both he and his co-worker, fellow journeyman electrician Justin Griffith, entered plenum spaces in several of the new prison buildings through designated MEP Access panels and safely walked on Lockdown security ceilings to complete job assignments. (RP 442, 446-53 (9-18-14)). On December 29, 2009, Mr. Donnelly entered the plenum space above a Lockdown ceiling in Room C-165 through an MEP Access panel to drill holes in a wall for conduit. Mr. Donnelly suffered permanent brain damage resulting in total disability after he fell 10 feet to concrete when the ceiling failed and collapsed. (RP 462-67 (9-18-14); Exh. 66 (prison security video of ceiling collapse)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The trial court agreed that "Noise Control's duty was to install the ceiling according to the manufacturer's instructions." (RP 2012-13 (10-1-14pm)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The North Close Project involved installation of the first ever "metal" security ceilings at the WSP. (RP 536 (9-18-14); RP 863 (9-23-14am)).

Plaintiffs allege that HDR/Turner negligently failed to inform the WSP of what they themselves had only learned half way through construction: that the metal security ceilings they selected for this project could not be walked on to perform work and, further, that walking on the ceilings would void ceiling warranties. Plaintiffs allege that the Contract required HDR/Turner to provide this same information to the WSP and that those provisions help establish HDR/Turner's standard of care in the performance of this construction project. Plaintiffs also allege that HDR/Turner had a nondelegable duty to inspect and approve the work of its ceiling installation subcontractor, Noise Control, and that Noise Control negligently failed to install the Lockdown metal security ceiling above C- 165 in accordance with the contractually-required manufacturer's instructions. (CP 74).

B. HDR/Turner and ceiling installation subcontractor Noise Control did not know whether these unique, metal security ceilings were safe to walk upon until May 23, 2006, more than a year after construction began.

When HDR's Vice President Larry Hartman selected

Environmental Interiors, Inc. metal security ceiling products for the North

Close Project he, like all other HDR and Turner managers who testified at

trial, did not know these security ceilings were unsafe to walk on. This

issue came to HDR/Turner's attention during a May, 2006 construction

meeting when subcontractors responsible for installing mechanical, electrical and plumbing systems above the ceilings asked Jim Elves, the Turner engineer responsible for managing ceiling installation, if they could walk on the ceilings to do their work. (RP 2468 (10-6-14pm); 2573 (10-7-14am); CP 613, pp. 11890-91).

Neither Mr. Elves nor HDR/Turner project manager Eric Wildt knew the answer, so Mr. Elves contacted Scott Cramer, President of the ceiling subcontractor Noise Control, to determine if people could safely walk on the security ceilings. (CP 613, p. 11890-91). Mr. Cramer contacted ceiling manufacturer Environmental Interiors and carefully documented his conversation with that manufacturer's representative in the first paragraph of a letter he sent to Mr. Elves on May 23, 2006: "To answer your question, 'Can other trades walk on these ceilings?' We asked Environmental Interiors, the answer was 'No, it would void all warranties.'" (Exh. 38, p.1) (Appendix A).

The original letter contains the internal quotes and underlining. Mr. Cramer used for emphasis to make the letter "definitive, dramatic and clear." (RP 2375 (10-6-14am)). Upon receiving it, Mr. Elves provided a copy of the letter to his supervisor, HDR/Turner project manager Eric Wildt. (CP 613, pp. 11893-94)).

Mr. Wildt admitted that Turner did not know if workers could safely walk on the metal security ceilings before receiving Mr. Cramer's May 23, 2006 letter. Mr. Wildt concluded that the letter meant that no one could walk on metal security ceilings. (RP 1734-35 (9-30-14am)).

C. HDR/Turner's own witnesses admit (1) the Contract required inclusion of ceiling warranties and lists of circumstances and conditions that would affect ceiling warranties; (2) that a reasonably prudent contractor should follow this Contract language; and (3) that HDR/Turner did not include critical ceiling warranty and safety information in the required building Operations and Maintenance Manual.

HDR/Turner affirmatively agreed by contract to provide to the WSP, at project completion, an Operations and Maintenance Manual ("OMM") containing specific ceiling warranty information. The Request for Proposal ("RFP") and the Issued for Construction Documents both identify the information HDR/Turner agreed to provide. (Exh. 204 (RFP), p. H-0119; Exh. 240, p. H-2810). The trial court found that the language of these two documents is "exactly the same" and that "the contract is defined as encompassing all these documents." (RP 2851-52 (10-8-14pm)). The Contract required HDR/Turner to provide to the WSP:

V. Warranties and Bonds: Include copies of warranties and bonds and lists of circumstances and conditions that would affect the validity of warranties or bonds.<sup>8</sup>

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> HDR offered Exhibit 240, the Issued for Construction Documents, and the trial court admitted them for illustrative purposes. (**Appendix C**).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Exh. 204, p. H-0119 (emphasis supplied) (**Appendix B**); Exh. 240, p. H-2810 (**Appendix C**).

In opening statement, Turner's counsel referred to the RFP as "the Bible" for this project. (RP 153-54 (9-16-14)). Every significant HDR/Turner liability witness admitted that the Contract language was important to the standard of care HDR/Turner must meet. HDR Vice President and project architect Larry Hartman admitted that things the owner should not do and actions that would void a warranty should be included in the OMM. (RP 2460-61 (10-6-14pm)). The Turner engineer responsible for preparing the OMM, Jeremy McMullin, admitted that the Contract required HDR/Turner to include the May 23, 2006 letter or its ceiling-related substance in the OMM because the letter addresses both safety and warranties. (RP 650-53, 697-98 (9-22-14am)).

Larry Hartman, HDR/Turner Project Manager Eric Wildt, and defense construction expert Daniel Hobbs all admitted that a reasonably prudent contractor should follow the Contract language in preparing the OMM and in determining what HDR/Turner must include in the OMM (RP 2458-59 (10-6-14pm), RP 2589 (10-7-14am), RP 2107-08 (10-2-14am)). Defense expert Hobbs testified that a reasonably prudent contractor should include in the OMM "actions, circumstances, or conditions that could impact the validity of a warranty." (RP 2107-08 (10-2-14am)).

HDR and Turner CR 30(b)(6) designees admitted that they could find no evidence that HDR/Turner included in the OMM either the

May 23, 2006 letter or its substance, nor that they communicated to anyone at the WSP that its workers should not walk on the metal security ceilings. (CP 613, p. 11846-47; RP 1738 (9-30-14am)). A WSP witness confirmed that the OMM did not contain a copy of the May 23, 2006 letter. WSP employees testified that, had the May 23, 2006 letter been included in the OMM, the WSP would have prohibited workers from walking on the metal security ceilings. (RP 934-35, 1022-25 (9-23-14pm)).

- D. The trial court prohibited the jury from considering Contract language on the issue of negligence.
  - 1. The instruction given without legal authority Jury Instruction 14.

Over plaintiffs' objections, the trial court gave Instruction 14:

You have heard testimony about the language in the contract relating to maintenance and warranty information. You are instructed that there are no breach of contract claims against the defendants in this case and you may not consider whether the contract was breached in considering whether the defendants were negligent. This evidence may be considered on the issue of causation.

(CP 542, p. 8905 (emphasis supplied)) (**Appendix G**). The trial court based this instruction on one proposed by HDR and Turner at the very end of trial, during what the trial court accurately described as a "snowstorm" of paper. (RP 2738 (10-8-14am); CP 524A, 534). The trial court provided no legal authority for this instruction.

# 2. Plaintiffs preserved this issue and attempted to mitigate the legal error.

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