NO. 72824-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JENNIFER B. DONNELLY, as Guardian for MARSHALL S. DONNELLY; JENNIFER B. DONNELLY; and KEITH KESSLER, as Guardian ad Litem for LINLEY GRACE DONNELLY, a minor child,

Appellants,

v.

HDR ARCHITECTURE, INC., TURNER CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, a foreign corporation, NOISE CONTROL OF WASHINGTON, INC., a Washington corporation; "JANE and JOHN DOES, 1 – 20",

Respondents.

Cross APP

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT HDR ARCHITECTURE, INC.

Mary H. Spillane, WSBA #11981 FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL

O'HALLORAN SPILLANE; PLLC

701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4650 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 749-0094

Terence J. Scanlan, WSBA #19498

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

Id. at 417. The Court then specifically discussed how the doctrine had previously been justified based on the owner's negligence in failing to remedy dangerous conditions upon the land and the owner's assumed responsibility for any defects in the work that remained after inspection and acceptance, stating:

A second, oft-cited rationale for this doctrine is the theory that the owner's negligence in failing to remedy *a* dangerous condition upon the land is an intervening cause, which breaks the chain of causation and cuts off the contractor's liability.

* * *

The completion and acceptance doctrine is also grounded in the assumption that if owners of land inspect and accept the work, the owner should be responsible for any defects in that accepted work.

Id. at 418-19 (citations omitted; emphasis added).

The *Davis* court's focus was on negligent work relating to design and physical construction, and latent construction defects and hazards that owners would not be able to identify, and the *Davis* opinion says nothing about the language or terms of any contract. Yet, the Donnellys nevertheless erroneously insist that *Davis* stands for the proposition that the "work" to which *Davis* refers is any work that is spelled out in the contract documents. As the Donnellys put it, *App. Br. at 27*:

This is not and has never been a breach of contract case. This is a construction negligence claim under the Supreme Court's precise language in *Davis*: the issue here, as in *Davis*, concerns "negligent work" in the course of the

North Close Project. [citations omitted]. The "work" to be performed is spelled out in the contract documents.

Contrary to the Donnellys' assertions, "the work" to which the *Davis* court referred was not so broadly expansive as to include each and every aspect of a contractor's duties under its contract with an owner, such that any alleged failure to fulfill an administrative contractual obligation to include warranty information in an O&M manual must be considered "negligent work" under *Davis* as though akin to a latent physical defect.

Davis exclusively addressed physical construction. The Donnellys cannot point to any part of the Davis decision that refers to anything other than design and physical construction, the use of physical materials, and the attendant realities that "modern" materials may not be readily susceptible to visual inspection. That is all the Davis decision is about – the physical limitations on an owner's ability to meaningfully inspect modern-day constructed facilities make the acceptance and completion doctrine out of step with modern technology. The Davis court found the doctrine outdated precisely because it denied an injured third party the ability to recover when hidden physical defects, which may only be discernable on a "molecular" level, act as a shield from liability due to an owner's inability to discover the defect at the time of accepting a completed project. Davis, 159 Wn.2d at 419.

Davis is silent as to a contractor's other myriad duties to perform contractual obligations that have no bearing at all the physical completion of a project. Apparently recognizing this, the Donnellys try to engraft the duty a contractor owes to third parties on a construction site during construction set forth in *Kelley v. Howard S. Wright Construction Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 323, 582 P.2d 500 (1978), onto the *Davis* court's analysis of why the completion and acceptance doctrine should be abandoned. Thus, the Donnellys claim, *App. Br. at 30*, that:

Kelley involved contractor liability to third parties for negligence on the jobsite causing injuries during construction. Davis v. Baugh extends contractor liability for negligent work to injuries occurring after construction is finished.

But, *Davis* has nothing to do with *Kelley*, and *Kelley* is inapposite to the Donnellys' claims.

In *Kelley*, when a subcontractor's employee was injured on a job site, the jury found the general contractor that hired the subcontractor at fault for the subcontractor's employee's injury. The Supreme Court affirmed, holding that a general contractor who has control over a work site owes a duty to third parties, including employees of independent subcontractors. *Kelley*, 90 Wn.2d at 330-31. The *Kelley* court based the third party duty a contractor owes to others on the construction site on three things: (1) the common law duty a contractor owes due to its ability

to exercise control over the work, *id.* at 330-331; (2) the statutory non-delegable duty to provide a "safe place of work," *id.* at 332-333; and (3) a responsibility assumed under contract "for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the work," *id.* at 333. These three sources of the *Kelley* duty all share the rationale that the general contractor is uniquely in control of the construction worksite.

Contrary to the Donnellys' assertions, *Davis*, which makes no mention of *Kelley* at all, does not say anything about extending *Kelley*'s reasoning to *Davis*'s facts. The *Kelley* court's 3-pronged bases for imposing a duty on contractors to protect third parties at the construction site boil down to a single rationale – the contractor's unique control over the site *during* construction. In *Davis*, however, the court offered an entirely different rationale for imposing third party liability *post* completion and acceptance – rejection of an outdated defense that could no longer be justified because of modern-day technological innovation. There is no connection between the two cases, and the Donnellys' attempt to forge a link should be rejected.

The Donnellys' claims are premised upon an incorrect reading of *Davis*, as well as on an erroneous attempt to link *Davis* with *Kelley*. The trial court allowed the Donnellys' claims to proceed consistent with the

Donnellys' incorrect view of the law. The trial court instructed the jury consistent with *Davis* that:

A defendant is liable for negligent acts or failures to act in its work on the Project at the WSP if it was reasonably foreseeable that a third person would be injured as a result of that negligence.

CP 8901. And, the trial court allowed the Donnellys to base their claims of negligence on contract provisions and standards that had nothing to do with the actual design and physical construction of the Project or the creation of latent defects or hazards. Under such circumstances, the Donnellys cannot seriously claim that the trial court somehow misunderstood their view, albeit an erroneous one, of "the practical and necessary implications of the *Davis* decision." *See App. Br. at 28*.

B. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Giving Instruction No. 14 or Abuse Its Discretion in Declining to Give the Additional Language Contained in Donnellys' Proposed Instruction No. 32.

The Donnellys concede, *App. Br. at 27*, that "[t]his case is not and has never been a breach of contract case." Yet, despite that concession, they assert, *App. Br. at 28-34*, that the trial court erred in giving Instruction No. 14, CP 8905, which told the jury:

You have heard testimony about the language in the contract relating to maintenance and warranty information. You are instructed that there are no breach of contract claims against the defendants in this case, and you may not consider whether the contract was breached in considering whether the defendants were negligent. This evidence may be considered on the issue of causation.

They further assert, *App. Br. at 36-37*, that the trial court erred in refusing to add to Instruction No. 14 additional language from the last sentence of their Proposed Instruction No. 32, CP 8877, which would have told the jury that: "You may consider the language of the contract ... as evidence of the standards and specifications that applied to defendants." The Donnellys' assertions are wrong on both counts.

1. <u>Instruction No. 14 was a correct statement of law, was not misleading, and did not prevent the Donnellys from arguing their theory of the case.</u>

Respondent HDR adopts the arguments concerning Instruction No. 14 contained in the Brief of Respondent/Cross-Appellant Turner and the Noise Control of Washington's Response Brief, and add the following supplementation.

The standard of review to be applied to jury instructions depends upon the decision being reviewed. *Burchfiel v. Boeing Corp.*, 149 Wn. App. 468, 491, 205 P.3d 145, *rev. denied*, 166 Wn.2d 1038 (2009). Alleged errors of law in jury instructions present legal questions that appellate courts review de novo. *Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys.*, *Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 851, 860, 281 P.3d 289 (2012); *Miller v. Kenny*, 180 Wn. App. 772, 796, 325 P.3d 278 (2014). But, when a jury instruction correctly states the law, a trial court's decision to give it will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. *See Rekhter v. Dep't of Soc. and*

Health Servs., 180 Wn.2d 102, 120, 323 P.3d 1036 (2014); Micro Enhancement Int'l, Inc. v. Coopers & Lybrand, L.L.P., 110 Wn. App. 412, 430, 40 P.3d 1206 (2002).

Jury instructions must be sufficient to allow the parties to argue their theories of the case. *Havens v. C & D Plastics, Inc.*, 124 Wn.2d 158, 165, 876 P.2d 435 (1994). They are sufficient if they (1) permit each party to argue its theory of the case, (2) are not misleading, and (3) when read as a whole properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law. *Rekhter*, 180 Wn.2d at 117; *Anfinson*, 174 Wn.2d at 860.

As set forth in the Brief of Respondent/Cross-Appellant Turner, Instruction No. 14 – an instruction to which the Donnellys acquiesced – correctly stated the law, did not prevent the Donnellys from arguing their theory of the case, and was not prejudicial. Indeed, not only did the Donnellys acquiesce in the giving of Instruction No. 14, but also their counsel acknowledged its legal correctness, when he told the trial court that he agreed that he could not argue that there was a breach of a contract and that "therefore, that is negligence." *See* 10/8 RP 2852:10-18. And, despite the Donnellys' assertions to the contrary, nothing in Instruction No. 14 either suggested that the jury could not consider the language or the provisions of the contract or prevented the Donnellys from showing the jury the contract's provisions and arguing that the contract's provisions

evidenced what reasonable care under the circumstances required. As the trial court itself told the Donnellys' counsel, 10/8 RP 2917: 10-18:

You can put the [contract] standards up there and talk about this is what they were supposed to do under the contract, but you can't argue that – the breach provides a basis for determining liability

The Donnellys make *Davis* the centerpiece of their argument of error in the giving of Instruction No. 14 but, as discussed more fully in the preceding discussion of what *Davis* did – and did not – change with regard to contractor responsibilities and duties, the Donnellys' reliance on *Davis* is misplaced.

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to give the additional language posited in the Donnellys' Proposed Instruction No. 32.

The refusal to give an instruction is reviewed for abuse of discretion, as the trial court has considerable discretion as to the wording, choice, and number of instructions needed for the parties to present their theories fairly. *See Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co., Inc.*, 127 Wn.2d 67, 92 n.23, 896 P.2d 682 (1995); *Leeper v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 123 Wn.2d 803, 809, 872 P.2d 507 (1994); *Burchfiel*, 149 Wn. App. at 491.

The Donnellys cite no authority suggesting that a trial court is obligated to bolster a party's claims or theories by affirmatively telling the jury that it may consider particular evidence the party wants the jury to consider as evidence on some issue the party has the burden of proving.

Yet, that is exactly what the language the Donnellys sought to add to Instruction No. 14 would have done. It would have served only to bolster and unduly emphasize the Donnellys' theory that the contract's provisions evidenced the standards and specifications that applied to defendants.

Indeed, the rule is to the contrary – courts should not give instructions that bolster or buttress portions of counsel's argument. *See*, *e.g.*, *Laudermilk v. Carpenter*, 78 Wn.2d 92, 100-01, 457 P.2d 1004 (1969). As the court, in *Harris v. Groth*, 31 Wn. App. 876, 881, 645 P.2d 1104 (1982) (citing *Laudermilk*, 78 Wn.2d at 100), *aff'd*, 99 Wn.2d 438 (1983), explained, in affirming the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury that it should consider materials available in the University of Washington medical library in determining what the knowledge the average medical practitioner should have possessed:

The basic purpose of instructions is to enunciate the essential elements of the legal rules necessary for a jury to reach a verdict. Instructions should not emphasize certain aspects of the case which might subject the trial judge to the charge of commenting on the evidence.

Instruction No. 14 made clear only that, in this – a negligence, not a breach of contract – case, the jury could not consider whether the contract was breached in deciding whether defendants were negligent. Instruction No. 14 did nothing to limit the jury's ability to look to the language of the contract in deciding what a reasonably prudent design-

build team should have done. Thus, there was no need to affirmatively tell the jury that it could consider the contract's language for the purposes for which the Donnellys wanted the jury to consider it. Had the trial court included the Donnellys' additional language, it would have served only to comment on the evidence and bolster the Donnellys' arguments.

3. The Donnellys have not established any prejudice from the giving of Instruction No. 14 or the failure to include their additional language from their Proposed Instruction No. 32.

An erroneous instruction is reversible error only if it prejudices a party. *Anfinson*, 174 Wn.2d at 860. Prejudice is presumed only if an instruction contains a clear misstatement of the law; prejudice must be demonstrated if an instruction is merely misleading. *Id.*; *Keller v. City of Spokane*, 146 Wn.2d 237, 249-50, 44 P.3d 845 (2002); *Lewis v. Simpson Timber Co.*, 145 Wn. App. 302, 318, 189 P.3d 178 (2008). The party challenging an instruction bears the burden of establishing prejudice. *See*, *e.g.*, *Griffin v. West RS, Inc.*, 143 Wn.2d 81, 91, 18 P.3d 558 (2001). "An error is prejudicial if it affects the outcome of the trial." *RWR Mgmt., Inc. v. Citizens Realty Co.*, 133 Wn. App. 265, 278, 135 P.3d 955 (2006), *rev. denied*, 159 Wn.2d 1013 (2007).

Respondent HDR adopts the arguments set forth in the Brief of Respondent /Cross-Appellant Turner as to the lack of prejudice in instructing the jury that it could not consider "breach of contract" in

determining negligence or that evidence of breach of contract could be considered on the issue of causation and provides the following supplementation.

Although the Donnellys claim, *App. Br. at 3, 15-19, and 28*, that, under Instruction No. 14, the jury was prohibited from considering the contract in connection with their negligence claim, nothing could be farther from the truth. The trial court even told them that they could show the jury the contract provisions and standards and argue that they set forth what the defendants were supposed to do. 10/8 RP 2917:10-18. And, from opening statement, through the presentation of their case, and in their closing argument, the Donnellys were fully able to do, and did, just that. *See* footnotes 1 and 2, *supra*, and accompanying text. It is difficult to conceive what more the Donnellys could have done to present their theories of negligence against HDR and Turner to the jury. Even if they could have, or believe they should have, done more, Instruction No. 14 did not prevent them from doing so. The jury simply did not agree with the Donnellys' theories of negligence.

C. The Trial Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion in Separately Listing HDR and Turner on the Special Verdict Form.

For the reasons set forth in the Brief of Respondent/Cross-Appellant Turner Construction Company, the trial court's listing of HDR

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